
 

 
PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

AGENDA 
  

Thursday, January 26, 2023                                                                         Frankfort Village Hall        
6:30 P.M.                                                                                               432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 
 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Minutes of January 12, 2022 

 
4. Public Hearing: Drive-through Coffee Shop – Hickory Creek Market Place Subdivision (Ref #105) 

Request:  Proposed Major Change to the Hickory Creek Market Place Planned Unit Development, including 
several Zoning Ordinance and Municipal Code exceptions, for a proposed new commercial building and 
four (4) Special Use Permits for a carry-out restaurant, drive-up service windows associated with a permitted 
use, outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant, and extended hours of operation (opening earlier 
than 7:00 a.m.). (PIN: 19-09-15-101-002-0000)  
 

5. Public Comments 
 
6. Village Board & Committee Updates  

 
7. Other Business 

 
8. Attendance Confirmation (February 9, 2023) 

 
9. Adjournment 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order 
shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider 
items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 
persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 
forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/12/23 | Page 1 
 

 

MINUTES  

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        January 12, 2023 –VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Rigoni called the meeting to order at 6:31 PM 

Commissioners Present: Chair Maura Rigoni, Brian James, David Hogan, Dan Knieriem, 
Will Markunas, Jessica Jakubowski 

Commissioners Absent: Nichole Schaeffer 

Staff Present: Director of Community and Economic Development Mike 
Schwarz, Planner Drew Duffin 

Elected Officials Present:  Trustee Daniel Rossi  

A. Approval of the Minutes from December 8th, 2022 

Motion (#1): To approve the minutes from December 8th, 2022. 

Motion by: Knieriem   Seconded by: Jakubowski 

Approved: (5-0, Commissioner Hogan Abstained)  

B. Public Hearing: 21206 S. La Grange Road – Taqueria Mammy Chayo 

Drew Duffin presented the staff report. 

Applicant Teresa Castro approached the podium. She explained that she was applying for 
the liquor license in response to customer demand for alcoholic beverages, namely 
margaritas.  

Motion (#2): To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Knieriem   Seconded by: Markunas 

Approved: (6-0) 

Motion (#3): Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit for Accessory 
Liquor Sales in conjunction with an existing permitted restaurant located at 21206 S. La 

 
 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/12/23 | Page 2 
 

Grange Road, in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and findings of 
fact.  

Motion by: Knieriem   Seconded by: James 

Approved: (6-0) 

C. 1.5-Mile Review: Will County Zoning Case #ZC-22-045 (Uriel Cantero)  

Mike Schwarz presented the staff report. 

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant if he wished to add anything.  

Mr. Cantero, the applicant, indicated he did not. 

Commissioner Hogan asked if the proposed parking lot would be used for both trucks and 
trailers. 

Joseph Padula-Zamora, an attorney representing the applicant, stated that the lot would be 
used for trucks and trailers, but all trucks and trailers would be owned by the applicant.  

Commissioner Hogan asked if the applicant hauled freight locally.  

The applicant responded that he did.  

Commissioner Jakubowski asked the applicant how much traffic he anticipated would be 
generated by his development.  

The applicant said that it would be dependent on demand.  

The applicant’s attorney added there would only ever be one truck entering or leaving the 
site at one time.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant why he was proposing 20 spaces when he 
was the only driver. 

The applicant’s attorney explained that his client was looking to expand his business, and 
that the additional parking spaces would allow him to hire more drivers in the future. He 
added that, at most, 20 trucks would be entering or leaving the site every day.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant had any plans to improve the site. 

The applicant’s attorney said that they were proposing to install a fence on the property. 

There was some discussion on how the Village’s decision on the present case would 
impact the final decision made by the Will County Board.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if there were any plans to install light fixtures on the site. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/12/23 | Page 3 
 

The applicant’s attorney replied that there were no plans for light fixtures at the moment. 

Commissioner James asked if there were any plans to store fuel on the site.  

The applicant’s attorney stated that there were no plans for on-site fuel storage. 

Chair Rigoni asked staff if there would be any change to the Equalized Assessed Value 
(EAV) of the site if the current proposal were approved. 

Mike Schwarz explained that any increase in EAV would be minimal.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked if there would be anyone on-site overnight. 

The applicant’s attorney said there would not be anyone on-site overnight. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the applicant was planning to lease spaces to other 
trucking companies. 

The applicant’s attorney said there were no plans to rent to other trucking companies.  

Chair Rigoni asked if there were any other questions for the applicant. 

There were none. 

Chair Rigoni explained that she would read the provided motions to object, meaning that 
voting in the affirmative on either motion would forward a recommendation to object to 
the Village Board.  

Motion (#4): Recommend the Village Board object to the proposed Special Use Permit 
for a truck terminal for the unincorporated property located on the east side of La Grange 
Road, approximately 820 feet south of Stuenkel Road (PIN: 18-13-08-100-014-0000). 

Motion by: Knieriem   Seconded by: Jakubowski 

Approved: (6-0) 

Motion (#5): Recommend the Village Board object to the proposed rezoning from A-1 to 
I-1 for the unincorporated property located on the east side of La Grange Road, 
approximately 820 feet south of Stuenkel Road (PIN: 18-13-08-100-014-0000).  

Motion by: Jakubowksi   Seconded by: Knieriem 

Approved: (6-0) 

Commissioner James expressed his appreciation to the applicant for coming forward to 
the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals, but that they had to consider the best 
interests of the residents of the Village.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/12/23 | Page 4 
 

Mr. Cantero stated that there were other properties near to his which also rented truck 
spaces. He also stated that the Village would not be able to collect taxes from site 
improvements if he was unable to grow his business to the point where he could improve 
the site. 

D. Public Comments 

There were none.  

E. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz noted that the Village Board approved the following items at their meeting 
on December 19th, 2022, which had previously appeared before the Plan Commission: 

• The Special Use Permits for Extended Hours of Operation and Indoor 
Recreation for Big Bear Barbell Club (22793 Citation Road, Unit B) were 
approved. 

• The Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation for Tiny Tots Play Café (20815 S. 
La Grange Road) was approved. 

• The Final Plat for Graefen’s East Point Park 1st Resubdivision (22413 and 22445 
W. Fey Drive) was approved.  

Mike Schwarz also noted that the Village Board passed an Ordinance which disconnected 
(de-annexed) the property at 9200 Stuenkel Road from the Village of Frankfort. 

Mike Schwarz told the members of the Plan Commission that the Committee-of-the-
Whole had discussed the following items: 

• Concept plans for a potential future development called the “I-57 Corporate 
Park”. Discussion also centered on how utilities could be provided to the site.  
 

• The Committee-of-the-Whole authorized staff to begin researching and drafting 
potential changes to the parking regulations in the Zoning Ordinance.  
 

• The final proposal for 2 Smith Street was rejected. 

F. Other Business 

There was no other business. 

G. Attendance Confirmation (January 26th, 2023) 

Chair Rigoni asked the members of the Plan Commission to notify staff if they knew they 
could not attend the January 26th meeting. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/12/23 | Page 5 
 

Commissioner Jakubowski indicated she would not be in attendance. 

Motion (#6): Adjournment 7:09 P.M. 

Unanimously approved by voice vote. 

Approved January 26, 2023 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 

_____________________/s/ Maura Rigoni, Chair 

_____________________/s/ Secretary 



1 
 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                                                                                   S                               January 26, 2023 

 

Project: Sparks Coffee Co. – New Construction    

Meeting Type:  Public Hearing   

Request: Major change to PUD, Special Use Permits (4)  

Location:   Hickory Creek Marketplace, Outlot 1E 

Applicant:  Aliana Winkle  

Prop. Owner:  Winkle R E Properties   

Representative: Applicant 

Staff report by: Christopher Gruba, Senior Planner  

 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 1.12 acres                                                 Figure 1. Location Map     

PIN: 19-09-15-101-002-0000 

Existing Zoning:  B-3, General Business (with PUD overlay)   

Proposed Zoning: N/A 

Buildings: 1   

Total Sq. Ft.: 945 sq. ft. 

 

 

 

Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 

Project Summary  
 

The applicant, Aliana Winkle, is seeking to develop the existing vacant outlot immediately to the west of Emagine 
Theater for use as a drive-through coffee shop (now known as Sparks Coffee).  Customers would have the option 
of using the drive-through windows and taking coffee to-go or parking at the site and ordering from the walk-up 
window.  This property is the last undeveloped outlot in the Hickory Creek Marketplace PUD, which was originally 
approved in 1997 (Ord-1654).  The project would require a Major Change to the existing PUD for the construction 
of the new building, plus four (4) Special Use Permit requests for a carry-out restaurant, a drive-through, outdoor 
seating, and extended hours.  This project was heard before the Plan Commission as a workshop on November 
10th, 2022.   

 

Attachments 
 

1. Aerial Photographs, Village of Frankfort GIS (1:1,500 and 1:3,000 scales) 
2. Findings of Fact for Special Use Permit and Major Change to a PUD 
3. Plan Commission workshop meeting minutes excerpt 11.10.22 
4. Photographs of site, taken by staff 11.1.22 

5. Project submittal, including Site Plan, Landscape Plan, Building Elevations, etc., received December 19, 2022    

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property      Vacant General Comm. B-3 PUD 

North     Commercial General Comm. B-3 PUD 

South      Commercial General Comm. B-3 PUD 

East     Commercial General Comm. B-3 PUD 

West     Commercial N/A C-2 
(Mokena) 



2 
 

Major changes to plans since workshop  

 
This project was reviewed by the Plan Commission as a workshop on November 10th, 2022.  The applicant has since 

submitted revised plans, which share many similarities with the workshop plan but also contain notable 

differences.  Staff has listed the following changes to the plans, in order of perceived importance:  

 

1. The drive-through canopy has been “flipped” so that it is now located on the east side of the building, 

facing toward Emagine Theater instead of Route 45.  The direction of on-site traffic circulation remains 

the same, although vehicles would now enter the site at the northeast corner instead of the southeast 

corner.  
2. The building is now set back 125’ from the centerline of Route 45 to the nearest part of the building, 

complying with the front setback requirement.  
3. The building was increased in size from 775 to 945 square feet.  
4. The sidewalk connection from the building to the existing sidewalk along La Grange Road has been 

removed per discussion at the workshop meeting.  
5. New arched “eyebrow” canopies have replaced the former flat canopies on the north, east and west sides 

of the building, per discussion at the workshop meeting to better match existing buildings in this PUD.  
6. The center island containing the building has been narrowed, which allowed for the landscaped area 

along the east side of the property to be widened.   
7. A row of parking was moved from the south side of the parcel to north side.  
8. The trash enclosure was moved from the north side of the site to the south side.  
9. The handicap parking stall has been relocated from along the eastern row of parking to a new northern 

row of parking.  
10. The location of the six (6) proposed light poles have been rearranged slightly to accommodate the revised 

site plan. The light levels comply with the Zoning Ordinance regulations.  

 

Analysis (updated) 
 

Land Use 
 

1. The property is zoned B-3, General Business, with a PUD overlay for a commercial plaza development.  
This zone district is primarily intended to “provide areas to be used for most types of retailing and service 
uses, including those uses that are oriented toward the service of automobiles”.  The proposed drive-
through coffee shop meets the general intent of this zone district.  
 

2. The construction of the proposed coffee shop building within the PUD for Hickory Creek Marketplace 
requires a Major Change to the existing PUD.  Major PUD changes were required to construct the outlot 
buildings for Autozone and Jimmy John’s (Ord-2329 and Ord-2419).   
 

3. The proposed drive-through coffee shop in the B-3 zone district would require four (4) Special Use Permits 
for the following:  
 

o Carry-out restaurant 
o Drive-through windows 
o Outdoor seating 
o Extended hours of operation  

 
Normal business hours within the Village are from 7 am – 11 pm.  A Special Use Permit was required for a 
drive-through use and extended hours of operation for Steak & Shake (Ord-2269), which was permitted to 
be open from 5 am to 1 am.  Sparks Coffee is requesting to be open from 5:30 am – 8 pm Monday – 
Saturday and from 6 am – 6 pm on Sunday, which can be allowed through a Special Use Permit.  



3 
 

Site Plan 
 
The underlying zone district of B-3 (General Business) contains dimensional requirements regarding building 
setbacks, height, etc.  Additionally, the PUD is governed by Ord-1654, which has some dimensional regulations that 
supersede the Zoning Ordinance.  Deviation from either of these regulations can be permitted as part of the Major 
Change to the PUD.  Although there is no vehicular access to La Grange Road, there is a 125’ front yard setback 
requirement from the centerline of the road.  By definition, the east property line is then considered the rear yard 
and the north and south property lines are considered side yards.  The proposed building would be set back 125’ 
from the centerline of La Grange Road, meeting the front yard setback requirement.  The building setback is 
measured to nearest canopy on the building.   
 
Below are the dimensional standards applicable to the subject property:  

 

  Lot Size 

Front Yard 
Setback (to 
centerline) 

Front Yard 
Landscape 

Setback 
Side Yard 
Setbacks 

Rear Yard 
Setback 

Building 
Height 

Impervious 
Lot Coverage 

Required 20,000 SF 125' 25' 15' 30' 25'* 70% 

Proposed 52,272 SF 125’ 25' 73.6’/115.4’ 89.5’ 21' 56.6% 
 

*per Ord-1654, PUD   
 
Accessory structures in the B-3 zone district must be set back at least 10’ from any property line.  The proposed 
trash enclosure is located 5’ from the south side property line, requiring an exception.  The proposed trash 
enclosure would be constructed of brick to match the building and complies with all other requirements listed in 
the Zoning Ordinance (height, gates).  
 
A sidewalk connection from the building to the existing sidewalk along La Grange Road was discussed during the 
Plan Commission workshop.  At that time, the Plan Commission expressed a preference to preserve the existing, 
mature, 25’ wide landscape buffer along La Grange Road, instead of losing some of this landscaping to provide the 
sidewalk connection.  The sidewalk connection would have also required cutting into the existing berm within this 
landscape setback.  As such, the sidewalk connection has been removed on the latest plan revisions.  Since a 
sidewalk connection is technically required, an exception would need to be granted as part of the Major change to 
the PUD.  
 
An outdoor seating area is proposed on the north side of the building.  The outdoor seating area would measure 
approximately 800 square feet and may contain tables, chairs and benches.  Article 5, Section C, Part 14 of the 
Zoning Ordinance requires that all restaurant outdoor seating be enclosed by a fence or wall at least 3’ tall.  Sheet 
A306 of the submittal illustrates a 3’ tall metal railing that would mostly enclose the outdoor seating area.  The 
outdoor seating area would be further buffered from the drive aisles by an approximately 6’ wide landscape bed.  
A pedestrian walk-up ordering window is proposed on the west side of the building, adjacent to the outdoor dining 
area.  
 
Building Materials/Architecture 
 
Building materials and architecture is regulated by the Zoning Ordinance (Article 7, Section A, Parts 5 & 8) and by 
the existing PUD (Ord-1654).  As such, the proposed building materials and architecture should generally match 
the other buildings in Hickory Creek Marketplace.   
 
Staff offers the following comments:   
 

1. The primary building materials are two colors of brick (Waterford Brick) and cultured stone, both intended 
to match or closely match the brick and stone on the main building (Emagine Theater).  The brick is used 
on all four sides of the building, primarily for the walls and the upper portions of the drive-through 
support columns.  The cultured stone would primarily be used for wainscot along the base of the building, 
as well as the base of the drive-through support columns.  Cultured stone is also proposed to completely 



4 
 

enclose the back end of the building (cooler area).  Corrugated metal siding is used for accent features, 
mostly on the front façade facing La Grange Road.  Bronze corrugated metal siding is limited mostly to the 
top half of the front façade.  Red corrugated metal siding would only be applied to the front façade, in a 
vertical fashion, as an accent feature.  Article 7, Section A, Part 5 (i) of the Zoning Ordinance states that 
“while it is recognized that color is a very subjective matter and that creativity should not be stifled, colors 
should nonetheless be used harmoniously and with some restraint”.  For comparison, the outlot building 
on outlot 1D (Mattress Firm/Pizza Hut) currently has green awnings as an accent color.  
 

2. Historically, the Village has required that canopy support beams (for drive-throughs and gas station 
canopies) be fully wrapped in masonry.  The combined mix of stone and brick wrapping meets and 
exceeds expectations.  
 

3. The roof would be flat, matching all other buildings in the development.  All rooftop mechanical units 
would be screened by the masonry and metal parapets, at a height equal to the height of the mechanical 
units.  No ground-mounted mechanical units are proposed, other than a transformer located in the 
landscaped area immediately south of the building.  
 

4. A full basement is proposed as illustrated on Sheet A101.  Although not defined on the floorplan, it was 
stated by the applicant at the workshop meeting that the basement will be used for storage.  
 

5. A roof access ladder is attached to the west of the building facing La Grange Road.  
 

6. Historically, the Village has not permitted the use of thin brick on buildings.  Sheet A300 notes the use of 
thin brick.  Consistent with other recent commercial projects, staff recommends that the Plan 
Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals condition any approval on the use of standard dimensional brick.   
 

Parking & Circulation 
 
The subject property is located between the existing outlots for Old National Bank and the strip commercial 
building that contains Mattress Firm, Pizza Hut, etc.  The subject property would only be accessible via a shared 
access drive within Hickory Creek Marketplace; there would be no new access to La Grange Road.  There would be 
no cross-access between the subject property and the two adjacent outlots.  Traffic would enter the site from the 
northern access driveway only and circulate on-site in a counterclockwise fashion.  Traffic could exit the site from 
either the southern access driveway (one-way out) or the northern access driveway (two-way).   
 
Staff offers the following comments:  
 

1. Parking for fast food (carry-out) restaurants is required a ratio of 1 space per 75 square feet of gross floor 
area, plus 1 space for every 2 employees during the largest working shift.  The building would be 945 
square feet and staffed by up to 4 people at once, requiring 15 spaces.  A total of 24 parking spaces would 
be provided on-site, including 1 ADA space, complying with the parking requirement. The Zoning 
Ordinance is silent regarding whether outdoor seating area is counted toward the total parking 
requirement for restaurant uses.  For the purposes of this report, the outdoor seating area was not 
counted toward the total parking required.  If the outdoor seating area was counted as floor area of the 
restaurant, a total of 25 parking spaces would be required.  
 

2. Per the existing PUD (Ord-1654), each parcel must provide its own parking on-site.  There is a “reciprocal 
easement agreement” within Ord-1654, which allows for shared access between parcels (but not shared 
parking) within the PUD.   
 

3. The drive-through lane would consist of dual lanes, similar to McDonald’s on La Grange Road.  There 
would be no order board.  Rather, orders would be given to employees outside, similar to ordering at a 
Chick-fil-A restaurant.  A 14.5’ wide bypass lane exists adjacent to the drive-through lane.   
 

4. Both Village staff and Robinson Engineering requested that the southern access drive to the property be 
made two-way instead of one-way exit only.  As proposed, the southern exit-only driveway is 21’ wide, 



5 
 

giving it the appearance of a two-way drive, while being only slightly narrower than the southern two-way 
driveway, which is 25’ wide.  Staff believes that motorists will treat the 21’ wide one-way as a two-way in 
practice anyway, as proposed.  Lastly, if the southern driveway were converted to two-way, it should not 
affect the flow of traffic in the general counterclockwise motion.   

 
Loading 
 

1. Due to the small size of the building (945 sq. ft.), a loading space is not required per the Zoning Ordinance. 
Staff still recommends discussing where and how loading would occur on-site.  
 

Landscaping 
 

1. There is a 25’ wide landscape buffer located along La Grange Road for all properties in the PUD, including 
the subject property.  The landscape buffer on the subject property has a small berm (2’ +/-) and contains 
several mature trees and shrubs, notably evergreen trees.   
 

2. The Landscape Plan illustrates additional shrubs and ground cover within the landscape buffer on the 
property, including some evergreen shrubs (junipers and yews).  This evergreen material, once fully 
grown, is intended to obscure the view of cars in the drive-through and their headlights aimed toward La 
Grange Road.  Junipers typically grow up to 15” tall and Yews 36” tall at full maturity.   
 

3. The Landscaping Regulations as listed in §158.30(B) of the Code of Ordinances require that a 5’ wide 
landscape bed be located adjacent to drive-through lanes, separating the drive-through lanes from other 
vehicular use areas.  This landscape bed was not included on the Site Plan (or Landscape Plan) but could 
be waived as an exception under the Major Change to the PUD.   
 

4. Landscaping is proposed around the trash enclosure and within the center of the site around the building 
and outdoor seating area.  
 

5. Two evergreen trees and one deciduous tree (Honeylocust) would be removed along the east property 
line and replaced with two Swamp White Oak trees.  None of the trees to be removed are preservation 
trees, although they are mature.  
 

Lighting 
 

1. A Photometric Plan has been provided illustrating 6 new 20’ tall light poles.  The light levels comply with 
the levels permitted in the Zoning Ordinance.   
 

2. The concrete bases of the light poles should match the other light pole bases in Hickory Creek 
Marketplace, and a rendering of this has been included on the Photometric Plan.  
 

3. The existing light pole fixtures within Hickory Creek Marketplace are painted white, with a “shoebox” style 
light fixture.  It’s unlikely that the applicant could procure light fixtures that exactly match the existing 
light pole fixtures.  However, staff recommends that the proposed light poles be painted white to match 
the rest of the PUD.  The white color has been noted on the Photometric Plan.  
 

4. The maximum height of light poles in the B-3 zone district is 25’.  The proposed light poles would be 20’ 
tall, meeting this requirement.  
 

5. In addition to the six light poles, there would also be four recessed can lights beneath the drive-through 
canopy.  

 
Signage 
 
A sign plan has not been provided, although wall signage is illustrated on the 3-D color renderings and on the 
scaled building elevation drawings.  Details of the construction type of the wall signs have not been included with 



6 
 

the submittal (channel letters, box sign, painted sign, etc.). During the workshop meeting, at least one 
commissioner requested that the proposed signage be revised to comply with the Sign Code and the PUD 
regulations (Ord-1654).  Deviation from the Sign Code and Ord-1654 would only be possible through the approval 
of the Major change to the PUD; variances cannot be granted for signage.   
 
Signage for Outparcel 1E is governed by Ord-1654, Exhibit E.  Summarized, wall signage for Outlot 1E shall abide by 
the following:  
 

• Up to 2 wall signs are permitted 

• Logos are permitted 

• Up to 2 lines of text permitted 

• Wall signs may have up to 3 colors 

• Letters/symbols can’t exceed 42” tall 

• Letter depth can’t exceed 6” 

• Raceways are not permitted 

• Length of sign can’t exceed 70% of the frontage 

• 25 SF of sign area per lineal foot of building frontage 
 
The Hickory Creek Marketplace multi-tenant buildings, unlike the single-building outlots, may only have white 
channel letter wall signs, except for the anchor tenants of Emagine, Staples and Home Depot.  For example, the 
single tenant buildings of Autozone and Steak & Shake have orange and red signage, whereas the multi-tenant 
building containing Mattress Firm and Pizza Hut has all-white signage.  As a single-tenant building, Sparks Coffee 
would be permitted up to 3 different colors for its wall signage.  
 
Two large ground signs exist for Hickory Creek Marketplace: one sign along La Porte Road and the other at the 
main entrance to the PUD along La Grange Road.  These two large ground signs only contain the names of the 
anchor tenant stores of Home Depot, Emagine and Staples.  There is one smaller ground sign located midblock 
along La Grange Road, between the plaza’s main entrance and La Porte Road, in front of the strip retail building 
containing Mattress Firm.  This smaller ground sign contains the names of some of the smaller tenants, including 
Goodwill, Pizza Hut and Great Clips.  The subject property, Outlot 1E, was purchased by the applicant, whereas 
much of the rest of the PUD is owned by “Hickory Creek Market Place”.  Since the properties are within the same 
PUD but under separate ownership, it’s uncertain whether the applicant could place their name on the smaller 
ground sign. 
 
Preliminary Engineering 
 
The site is currently served by Village water, sanitary and storm utilities.  Per a cursory review by Robinson 
Engineering, on-site stormwater detention for Hickory Creek Marketplace is already provided in the detention 
pond behind Emagine Theater.  Any engineering review work is expected to be minor.   
 
Requests – Summarized  
 
Exceptions:  
 
Three (3) exceptions are anticipated:  
 

1. Reduced trash enclosure setback of 5’ (10’ required from any lot line) 
2. Relief from the required 5’ wide landscape bed adjacent to drive through lanes 
3. Relief from the required sidewalk connection from the building to the existing sidewalk along La Grange 

Road 
 
 
 
 
 



7 
 

Special Use Permits: 
 
Four (4) Special Use Permits are anticipated:  

 
1. Carry-out restaurant  
2. Drive-up service windows associated with a permitted use  
3. Outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant  
4. Extended hours of operation  

 

Affirmative Motions  
 

4. Recommend to the Village Board to approve the Major Change to a PUD, in accordance with the reviewed 
plans and public testimony, conditioned on final engineering approval, using standard brick instead of thin 
brick on the building and the following exceptions:  
 

a. Reduced trash enclosure setback of 5’ (10’ required from any lot line) 
b. Relief from the required 5’ wide landscape bed adjacent to drive through lanes 
c. Relief from the required sidewalk connection from the building to the existing sidewalk along La 

Grange Road 
 

5. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow a carry-out restaurant use on the 
property located at Outlot 1E in Hickory Creek Marketplace, in accordance with the reviewed plans and 
public testimony and conditioned on final engineering approval.  
 

6. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow drive-up service windows associated 
with a permitted use on the property located at Outlot 1E in Hickory Creek Marketplace, in accordance 
with the reviewed plans and public testimony and conditioned on final engineering approval.  

 
7. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow outdoor seating associated with a 

permitted restaurant on the property located at Outlot 1E in Hickory Creek Marketplace, in accordance 
with the reviewed plans and public testimony and conditioned on final engineering approval.  

 
8. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow extended hours of operation (5:30 

am – 8 pm Monday – Saturday and from 6 am – 6 pm on Sunday) on the property located at Outlot 1E in 
Hickory Creek Marketplace, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony and conditioned 
on final engineering approval.  



S L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D

W LA PORTE RD

W ST FRANCIS RD

0 500 1,000250
Feet

µ
Major PUD Change - Caffeinated Concepts



S L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D

W LA PORTE RD

0 250 500125
Feet

µ
Major PUD Change - Caffeinated Concepts







 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Special Use Permit Findings of Fact 

 
Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every special use permit request. The Plan Commission must 
make the following seven findings based upon the evidence provided. To assist the Plan Commission in 
their review of the special use permit request(s), please provide responses to the following “Findings of 
Fact.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 

endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 
  
 
 
 
 
4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 

The establishment will permit only low speed on site to enter into queue, ensuring a 
safe environment for the public. The establishment’s access points were thoughtfully 
placed to not allow cramming in the drive-thru and will not be detrimental to public 
health. 

The site has been vacant for years, our establishment will improve the site’s 
aesthetics. The special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of the other 
properties, as the queuing will be contained on the parcel. The neighbors are 
commercial not residential; therefore, the special use will not diminish property value.

The establishment will not impede the normal and orderly development, for food 
service is already a permitted use in the district, the drive-thru is merely the method of 
product delivery and will be contained on site. 

Our establishment is committed to high quality building, utilizing a mixture of both brick 
and stone. It will match the quality and construction of the neighboring level of 
development.



5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

 
 
 
 
 
6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so 

designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 
 

 

 

 

7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
 

The building will only be around 750 square feet; the utilities were placed to withstand 
the larger surrounding buildings. Consumers will enter our establishment from the 
access points provided to the marketplace, both north and south.

Those traveling from the north will turn left on to La Porte rd then right in to the 
marketplace. They will follow the road until they take a right in to our establishment. 
Those traveling from the south will take a right into the marketplace then a left at the 4-
way stop, leading them to make a left in to our establishment. 
Those access points have been approved to handle Frankfort traffic. 

Our project will follow all applicable codes.



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 1 

MINUTES

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        November 10, 2022–VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING   

432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Rigoni called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM

Commissioners Present: Chair Maura Rigoni, Brian James, Nichole Schaeffer, Dan 
Knieriem, Will Markunas 

Commissioners Absent: Jessica Jakubowski, David Hogan 

Staff Present: Director of Community and Economic Development Mike 
Schwarz, Senior Planner Chris Gruba, Planner Drew Duffin

Elected Officials Present:  None  

A. Approval of the Minutes from October 27th, 2022 

Motion (#1): To approve the minutes from October 27th, 2022. 

Motion by: Knieriem Seconded by: Schaeffer

Approved: (4-0, Commissioner Markunas Abstained)  

B. Workshop: Drive Through Coffee Shop – Hickory Creek Marketplace Subdivision  

Chris Gruba gave the staff report.

The applicant and the architect approached the stand. The architect explained that their 
civil engineer could not make it to the meeting. Neither person had anything more to add. 

Chair Rigoni asked for comments on the proposed use. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the proposed restaurant was part of a larger chain or an 
independent restaurant.  

The applicant our responded that the proposed building would be their first location, but 
that their short-term goal was to open ten locations in total. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the applicant was in the restaurant business. 

cgruba
Highlight



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 2 
 

The applicant stated that restaurants were a family business. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the applicant was from the Frankfort area. 

The applicant stated she was from the area.  

Commissioner Knieriem said he thought the location was a good spot for this use, 
especially given the other coffee uses nearby were always busy. It was a good location. 
He asked how their concept differed from other coffee shops. 

The applicant explained that they would utilize a double drive-through lane, which would 
help to manage throughput. There would also be runners delivering orders to car 
windows, similar to Chick-fil-A or Portillo’s.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked if there would be an app for preordering from the 
restaurant, since there were no proposed order boards. 

The applicant said that there might be in the future.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked whether the proposed basement would be used for 
storage. 

The applicant responded that it would.  

Commissioner Knieriem thanked the applicant for their work to align color scheme of the 
proposed building with the surrounding buildings in the PUD. He believed it looked 
good.  

Commissioner Schaeffer agreed with Commissioner Knieriem. She asked if there would 
be any indoor seating.  

The applicant said there would not be, and that the inside would be employees only. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked where the applicant would source the business’ coffee 
from. 

The app explained they were looking at different roasters at the moment. Ideally, they 
would pick someone local, but no decision had been made yet. 

Commissioner Markunas asked how runners would take orders. 

The applicant responded that runners would use tablets.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if those same runners would deliver orders to cars. 

The applicant said they would.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 3 
 

Commissioner Markunas asked the applicant if they were looking to eliminate the drive-
through chokepoint by allowing people to pull out of the line one they received their 
orders. 

The applicant said that was the case. 

Commissioner James expressed his concern for the safety of people moving through the 
site, both pedestrians and drivers, based on the proposed layout. 

The applicant noted that it was a priority for her as well. 

The architect noted that there was striping on the site plan to alert drivers to areas which 
would be frequented by pedestrians. 

Commissioner James noted that the proposed building was a relatively niche design. He 
thought the Plan Commission should consider how the proposed structure could be used 
by a future occupant. It was a good location, and the Plan Commission should consider 
that when deciding on their recommendation. 

Chair Rigoni noted that the uses seemed appropriate. She also said that she was 
struggling to understand how the drive-through would work, since it was an uncommon 
approach to handling drive-through traffic. She asked for comments on the list of 
exceptions developed by staff which might be requested at a future public hearing. 

Commissioner Markunas asked why the applicant did not redesign the northern entrance 
to be a two-way entrance, rather than an exit-only driveway.  

The applicant explained that they wanted all cars entering the site to enter the drive 
through line. Having an entrance on the north side of the property could result in people 
cutting into line. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant would consider changing the north 
driveway into a two-way driveway. From a safety perspective, he believed that some 
people would turn in through there anyway. 

The applicant said she was open to making that change.  

The architect stated that they could change the design to make it clear that driveway was 
not an entrance.  

Commissioner Markunas explained that people could still use it as an entrance anyway.  

Commissioner Knieriem agreed. Widening north entrance would make the property 
friendlier to patrons. He could see the applicant’s concern, but believed it would be better 
to make it a two-way entrance. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 4 
 

Chair Rigoni noted that, given parking was proposed along the south property line, there 
ought to be a way to access that parking without needing to drive all the way around the 
building. She thought the building should be reoriented, and be laid out similar to the 
Steak n’ Shake to the south. Most drive-throughs in Frankfort were not build so close to 
La Grange Road, and flipping the proposed design so the drive-through was on the east 
side of the property would be consistent with other development, and would eliminate the 
need for the exception to reduce the required building setback from the centerline of La 
Grange Road.  

Commissioner James added that it could also provide the applicant an opportunity to 
better utilize their proposed signage. 

Chair Rigoni made clear that she was not trying to change the applicant’s design, but 
asked the applicant to consider what the Plan Commission was suggesting. 

The architect noted that the proposed drive-through was oriented a certain way, and 
changing it would be inconvenient to drivers. 

Chair Rigoni clarified that she was asking the applicant to consider reorienting the site 
plan so that a drive-through would work as normal. She noted that the proposed canopy 
was larger than normal for a restaurant, and that the proposed canopy appeared more like 
a bank drive-through. 

Commissioner Markunas added that reorienting the building would would help with 
parking too, since a patron would not need to drive all the way around the drive through 
line to access parking. 

The architect asked for the Plan Commission for clarity on their suggested reorientation. 
He noted that reorienting the building the way they suggested would push the building 
back further from La Grange Road. 

Chair Rigoni noted that the building would be a fixed point. She asked staff to make sure 
the setbacks of the proposed building were aligned with nearby buildings rather than 
focus on following the letter of the Zoning Ordinance. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the Plan Commission’s suggestion was clear to the 
applicant.  

The applicant said it was, and that they had considered a similar design before. They 
wanted to be closer to the road, however.  

Chair Rigoni said she understood that desire, but that they would still have to meet 
setback requirements. She suggested the applicant look at how Steak n’ Shake laid out 
their building so the drive-through was away from La Grange Road.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 5 
 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if the exceptions related to the setback from La Grange 
Road would be unneeded if the building was reoriented. 

Chair Rigoni said it was possible. 

An aerial view of the nearby Steak n’ Shake was displayed on the screen. 

The architect stated that the Steak n’ Shake layout was a potential option. He thought the 
Plan Commission was suggesting relocating the proposed parking on the east side of the 
property to the west side, close to La Grange Road.  

Commissioner Schaeffer said that they applicant should also keep in mind that there 
would be landscaping between their building and La Grange Road. People drove fast 
along that road, and may not clearly see your building when passing. She understood 
their desire to get as close to La Grange Road as possible, but it might not be as 
advantageous as they were thinking. 

Commissioner Markunas noted that reorienting the building would also mean the large 
proposed sign on the east façade would face La Grange Road.  

The architect agreed. 

Chair Rigoni asked for comments relating to the proposed building and building 
materials.  

Commissioner Markunas stated he thought they were good. He was glad the applicant 
had worked with staff. The current proposal gave the building an individual character but 
still tried to match surrounding area. 

Commissioner James agreed, but expressed his concern with the proposed thin brick 
veneer. He noted that the Plan Commission preferred structural brick.  

Commissioner Schaeffer agreed. She stated that she liked the lighter stone accents. She 
added that while structural brick may cost more, but was standard in the Village. 

Commissioner Knieriem added that if a car hit the thin brick around the canopy column, 
it would be an issue for the business. It would be an issue for the driver if the applicant 
instead used full structural brick. 

Chair Rigoni noted that there was uniformity in the surrounding shopping center, and that 
the applicant was the last one to develop their property. The proposal did not incorporate 
an arch element into their design, which was present in other buildings in the PUD. To 
her, the biggest sticking point was architecture. On its own, the proposed design was 
great, and would appear so at another location. Her issue was how it related to the other 
buildings around it. The proposed building was not cohesive, especially with the red 
coloring. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 6 
 

Commissioner Knieriem asked Chair Rigoni which arches she was referring to.  

Chair Rigoni explained that the arch element was incorporated differently with each 
building, but was present regardless. Building designs became flatter as they approached 
the intersection of St. Francis Road and La Grange Road.  

The applicant asked if the building to the north of their property had arch elements. 

Chair Rigoni said there was and arch in the stone detailing above the entryway. She 
turned the conversation toward landscaping. She asked if staff was looking for direction 
on the potential tradeoff between connecting to the sidewalk along La Grange Road and 
removing a large evergreen tree. 

Chris Gruba explained that connecting to the sidewalk along La Grange Road was 
required per code, and the applicant was looking to install it, but the Plan Commission 
could consider waiving that requirement at the request of the applicant.  

Commissioner Knieriem noted that if the building was reoriented, it might not be an 
issue.  

Chair Rigoni asked if any other buildings had a connection to that sidewalk.  

Chris Gruba noted that Steak n’ Shake had one.  

Commissioner Knieriem noted that there was not a lot of pedestrian traffic on La Grange 
Road, and asked the applicant if they wanted the sidewalk connection. 

The applicant said they had no preference either way. 

Commissioner Markunas noted that not installing the sidewalk could be cheaper. 

Commissioner Schaeffer stated that it was a different story near the high school, but that 
in the area near the applicant, there were very few pedestrians. She then asked if the 
landscaping in the north west corner would screen headlights on the turn radius. 

Chris Gruba said that some plants would, but not all. Staff asked for taller landscaping to 
screen headlights, but none had been proposed yet.  

Chair Rigoni noted that since the site might be laid out differently at the next meeting, the 
applicant had a chance to address concerns about headlights. She asked the Plan 
Commission if they had any comments on the proposed signage. 

Commissioner Markunas noted that two different sign sets were given to staff, and asked 
which ones the applicant was going to use.  

The applicant stated they would use the signage details found on the proposed elevations. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 7 
 

Chair Rigoni asked of the proposed signage met the Village regulations. 

Chris Gruba stated that the proposed signage currently exceeded regulations. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if they were looking to paint a sign on the 
wall. 

The applicant explained that their intent was to install a box sign 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if it would be illuminated. 

The applicant said it would. 

Chris Gruba stated that, as proposed, the development did not comply with the PUD sign 
regulations.  

Commissioner Markunas said that staff could work with the applicant to meet the 
requirements. 

The architect asked if they would be allowed to paint the wall. 

Chair Rigoni said she did not think it would be. 

Chris Gruba said it was not allowed, according to the PUD Ordinance for Hickory Creek 
Marketplace. 

Chair Rigoni noted they proposed more than two signs, which was not allowed per Code. 

The architect noted that they should remove the proposed canopy signs, which would 
address the number of signs. That would leave only the size regulations to comply with. 

Commissioner Markunas agreed, and said that they could work with staff to meet code.  

The applicant asked if unilluminated signs were still considered signs per code. 

Chair Rigoni said they were.  

There was some discussion on the regulation which required a landscape barrier between 
bypass lanes and drive-through lanes. The Plan Commission expressed that they were 
generally alright with the applicant not meeting that code requirement.  

Chris Gruba asked if the Plan Commission had any comments on the outdoor seating 
area.  

Commissioner Knieriem noted that the building was located along La Grange Road, 
which had high traffic volumes. He suggested the applicant consider installing extra 
landscaping to help reduce noise.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 11/10/22 | Page 8 
 

Chris Gruba asked if the Plan Commission thought the proposal was ready to come to a 
Public Hearing. 

Chair Rigoni said she was, unless there were any major changes. She asked what time the 
restaurant would close.  

The applicant said that they would close at 8:00.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if they would sell food.  

The applicant stated that they would sell pre-prepared foods such as pastries, but nothing 
else. 

C. Workshop: 15 Ash Street – Old Frankfort Mall  

Chris Gruba gave the staff report. 

The applicants, Mike and Chris, approached the stand. They were joined by Chris 
Tokarz, their architect. They brought an additional presentation for the PC as well, which 
was not able to be displayed on screen due to technical issues.  

The architect explained that they had originally proposed parking along White Street. The 
Public Works Department and Village staff recommended against adding on-street 
parking within the right-of-way of White Street but were amenable to adding a 12’x50 
loading space within the right-of-way. The architect had done a lot of reorganization of 
tenant spaces on the interior of the building, so that all would have street access. Other 
changes were made to accommodate the transformer, but their options were limited since 
the building was so close to the lot lines. He created an alcove that would allow for an 
on-site interior transformer, the design of which had yet to be finalized. All tenants would 
have access to a street and an interior area for back-of-house needs. The landscape plan 
showed that trees would be provided within the rights-of-way of Ash, White and Kansas 
streets. The current plan did not include two trees which were proposed on Ash Street and 
Kansas Street, but they would be added to comply with code. The building was in a 
unique situation, since there were streets on three sides and no rear property line, which 
resulted in certain variances. The proposed building would fill out the property. The 
applicant stated that the project would not be feasible unless the building were expanded 
to nearly all property lines. One other major change was to the second-floor residential 
hall. They took some space out of the bowling alley, so now the proposed dwelling units 
were larger. The tradeoff they made was in losing event space within the bowling alley, 
but the existing bowling alley lanes would remain. A proposed roof deck and observation 
deck would be located above the bowling alley and above the 3rd floor of the addition, 
respectively. On the third floor, there was a proposed roof deck and observation deck. In 
regard to comments on the building height, Kansas Street slopes up from White Street to 
Oak Street. The proposed 45-foot building height was measured at White Street, but 42 
feet on Ash Street. 28 Kansas Street was currently the highest building along Kansas 















 



COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

ARCHITECT OF RECORD GENERAL CONTRACTOR

ENGINEERS OF RECORD

8
/3

0
/2

0
2
2

 5
:5

6
:5

8
 A

M

G000B
COVER V2

DRIVE-THRU COFFEE
DEVELOPMENT

Frankfort, IL 60423

. Description Date
STAFF RVW 5/28/2022

STAFF RVW
LETTER

6/14/2022

STAFF RESPONSE 8/30/2022

cgruba
Received





SO
U

TH
     LaG

R
AN

G
E      R

O
AD

       (U
S    R

O
U

TE   45)

Prepared For:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
AT

E
N

O
.

D
ES

IG
N

 B
Y:

D
. O

LS
O

N

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
.:

1"
 =

 2
0'

D
AT

E:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

D
. O

LS
O

N

22
-0

26

SC
AL

E:

J.
M

IL
LE

R
C

H
EC

KE
D

 B
Y:

A
LI

A
N

A
 W

IN
K

LE
Fr

an
kf

or
t, 

IL

C
A

FF
EI

N
A

TE
D

 C
O

N
C

EP
TS

S.
 L

a 
G

ra
ng

e 
R

oa
d,

 S
ou

th
 o

f W
. L

ap
or

te
 R

oa
d

Fr
an

kf
or

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s

Prepared By:

SI
TE

 P
LA

N

1 of 1SITE PLAN

20 10 20 40 800

N

S

NW NE

SESW

w
at

er
m

ar
k-

en
gi

ne
er

in
g.

co
m

  
|  

26
31

 G
in

ge
r W

oo
ds

 P
kw

y 
| A

ur
or

a,
 IL

 6
05

02
 

|  
(6

30
) 3

75
-1

80
0

M
AY

 2
6,

 2
02

2

06
/1

7/
22

1
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

C
O

M
M

EN
T 

LT
R

 D
AT

ED
 6

/7
/2

2

08
/1

8/
22

2
PE

R
 7

/1
2/

22
  S

TA
FF

 C
O

M
M

EN
TS

 A
N

D
 7

/2
8/

22
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
 C

O
M

M
EN

TS

10
/2

7/
22

3
PE

R
 9

/2
2/

22
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
 C

O
M

M
EN

TS

11
/2

8/
22

4
PE

R
 P

C
 W

O
R

KS
H

O
P 

C
O

M
M

EN
TS



SO
U

TH
     LaG

R
AN

G
E      R

O
AD

       (U
S    R

O
U

TE   45)

X

X

X

Prepared For:

D
AT

E
N

O
.

D
ES

IG
N

 B
Y:

R
. E

R
SF

EL
D

T

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
.:

1"
 =

 2
0'

D
AT

E:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

M
AY

 2
6,

 2
02

2

D
.O

, R
.E

.

22
-0

26

SC
AL

E:

J.
M

IL
LE

R
C

H
EC

KE
D

 B
Y:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

A
LI

A
N

A
 W

IN
K

LE
Fr

an
kf

or
t, 

IL

C
A

FF
EI

N
A

TE
D

 C
O

N
C

EP
TS

S.
 L

a 
G

ra
ng

e 
R

oa
d,

 S
ou

th
 o

f W
. L

ap
or

te
 R

oa
d

Fr
an

kf
or

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s

Prepared By:

LA
N

D
SC

AP
E 

 P
LA

N

L-1LANDSCAPE PLAN

20 10 20 40 800

N

S

NW NE

SESW

Know what's Below
Call  before you dig.

.

w
at

er
m

ar
k-

en
gi

ne
er

in
g.

co
m

  
|  

26
31

 G
in

ge
r W

oo
ds

 P
kw

y 
| A

ur
or

a,
 IL

 6
05

02
 

|  
(6

30
) 3

75
-1

80
0

IS
A

 C
ER T IF IE D  A R BO

R
IS

T

IL-5081A

DANIEL D.
OLSON

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
C

O
M

M
EN

T 
LT

R
 D

AT
ED

 6
/7

/2
2

PE
R

 7
/1

2/
22

  S
TA

FF
 C

O
M

M
EN

TS
 A

N
D

 7
/2

8/
22

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 C
O

M
M

EN
TS

1 2

6/
17

/2
2

8/
18

/2
2

PE
R

 9
/2

2/
22

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 C
O

M
M

EN
TS

3
10

/2
7/

22

PE
R

 P
C

 W
O

R
KS

H
O

P 
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
4

11
/2

9/
22



SO
U

TH
     LaG

R
AN

G
E      R

O
AD

       (U
S    R

O
U

TE   45)

Prepared For:

D
AT

E
N

O
.

D
ES

IG
N

 B
Y:

D
.O

LS
O

N

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
.:

1"
 =

 2
0'

D
AT

E:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

N
O

VE
M

BE
R

 2
8,

 2
02

2

D
.O

LS
O

N

22
-0

26

SC
AL

E:

J.
M

IL
LE

R
C

H
EC

KE
D

 B
Y:

A
LI

A
N

A
 W

IN
K

LE
Fr

an
kf

or
t, 

IL

C
A

FF
EI

N
A

TE
D

 C
O

N
C

EP
TS

La
 G

ra
ng

e 
R

oa
d

Fr
an

kf
or

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s

Prepared By:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

FI
R

E 
TR

U
C

K 
C

IR
C

U
LA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

1 of 1FIRE TRUCK
CIRCULATION PLAN

20 10 20 40 800

N

S

NW NE

SESW

w
at

er
m

ar
k-

en
gi

ne
er

in
g.

co
m

  
|  

26
31

 G
in

ge
r W

oo
ds

 P
kw

y 
| A

ur
or

a,
 IL

 6
05

02
 |

  (
63

0)
 3

75
-1

80
0



SO
U

TH
     LaG

R
AN

G
E      R

O
AD

       (U
S    R

O
U

TE   45)

Prepared For:

D
AT

E
N

O
.

D
ES

IG
N

 B
Y:

D
.O

LS
O

N

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
.:

1"
 =

 2
0'

D
AT

E:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

N
O

VE
M

BE
R

 2
8,

 2
02

2

D
.O

LS
O

N

22
-0

26

SC
AL

E:

J.
M

IL
LE

R
C

H
EC

KE
D

 B
Y:

A
LI

A
N

A
 W

IN
K

LE
Fr

an
kf

or
t, 

IL

C
A

FF
EI

N
A

TE
D

 C
O

N
C

EP
TS

La
 G

ra
ng

e 
R

oa
d

Fr
an

kf
or

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s

Prepared By:

20 10 20 40 800

N

S

NW NE

SESW

w
at

er
m

ar
k-

en
gi

ne
er

in
g.

co
m

  
|  

26
31

 G
in

ge
r W

oo
ds

 P
kw

y 
| A

ur
or

a,
 IL

 6
05

02
 |

  (
63

0)
 3

75
-1

80
0

D
EL

IV
ER

Y 
TR

U
C

K 
C

IR
C

U
LA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

1 of 1DELIVERY TRUCK
CIRCULATION PLAN



 

P
G

 C
O

N
TA

C
T:

1 2 3

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
:

REVISIONS

P
R

O
JE

C
T 

N
A

M
E
:

C
LI

E
N

T 
N

A
M

E
:

Page 1 of 1

Date:12/5/2022

8
4
7

.2
2
8
.1

1
9

9

Jo
e

li 
C

o
lli

n
s

jo
e

li.
c

o
lli

n
s@

p
g

-e
n

lig
h

te
n

.c
o

m

8
4
7

.2
2
8
.1

1
9

9

APPLICATION AND TASK

1.5 0.75 - 3 0.8 0.4 - 1.6

1 0.5 - 2 0.6 0.3 - 1.2

1 0.5 - 2 - -

4:1 15:1

4:1 15:1

MAINTAINED HORIZONTAL MAINTAINED VERTICAL MAXIMUM

PARKING (UNCOVERED) ZONE 3 (URBAN)

PARKING (UNCOVERED) ZONE 2 (SUBURBAN)

SAFETY (BUILDING EXTERIOR)

MORE DETAILED EVALUATION AND ADDITIONAL APPLICATIONS. THESE RECOMMENDATIONS DO NOT SUPERCEDE ANY APPLICABLE CODES.

INDIVIDUAL APPLICATIONS WILL DETERMINE SPECIFIC RECOMMENDATIONS. PLEASE REFER TO THE MOST RECENT HANDBOOK FOR A

SIMPLIFIED RECOMMENDATIONS BASED ON IES 'THE LIGHTING HANDBOOK' 10TH EDITION AND IES RP-20-14.

FOR SECURITY ISSUES,

RAISE AVG. TO 3

AVERAGE (FC) AVERAGE (FC) RANGE (FC)RANGE (FC) AVG:MIN MAX:MIN

PARKING LOT DESIGN GUIDE

NOTES
PG-ENLIGHTEN IS NEITHER LICENSED NOR INSURED TO DETERMINE CODE COMPLIANCE.
CODE COMPLIANCE REVIEW BY OTHERS.

ANY VARIANCE FROM REFLECTANCE VALUES, OBSTRUCTIONS, LIGHT LOSS FACTORS OR
DIMENSIONAL DATA WILL AFFECT THE ACTUAL LIGHT LEVELS OBTAINED.

THIS ANALYSIS IS A MATHEMATICAL MODEL AND CAN BE ONLY AS ACCURATE AS IS
PERMITTED BY THE THIRD-PARTY SOFTWARE AND THE IES STANDARDS USED.

FIXTURE TYPES AND QUANTITIES MAY CHANGE BASED ON UNKNOWN OBSTRUCTIONS OR
FIELD CONDITIONS. THESE CHANGES MAY RESULT IN AN INCREASED QUANTITY OF FIXTURES.

FIXTURE TYPES AND QUANTITIES BASED ON PROVIDED LAYOUT AND DRAWINGS ARE FOR
REFERENCE ONLY. TYPES AND QUANTITIES MAY CHANGE WITH FUTURE REVISIONS.

CALCULATION GRID VALUES 10'-0" O.C.

FR
A

N
K

FO
R

T 
C

O
FF

E
E

K
E
Y

ST
O

N
E
 P

LA
N

N
IN

G
 +

 D
E
SI

G
N

M
a

rc
 P

ili
p

u
f

M
a

rc
.P

ili
p

u
f@

p
g

-e
n

lig
h

te
n

.c
o

m

Luminaire Schedule - Part numbers are provided by the manufacturer and are only intended to be used as a reference to output and optics used.
Symbol Qty Tag Arrangement Luminaire Lumens Arr. Lum. Lumens Luminaire Watts Arr. Watts LLF Manufacturer Description

Luminaire Location Summary
LumNo Label Mtg Ht

Calculation Summary
Label CalcType Units Orient TiltAvg Max

4 C1 Single 996

Min Max/Min

996 14.4 14.4

1 RAR-2-320L-165-4K7-3-BC_1 20 92 0
2 RAR-2-320L-165-4K7-3-BC_1 20 270 0

0.900 DALS Lighting Inc. RGR4-CC-XX

Avg/Min Description
PROPERTY LINES Illuminance Fc 0.15

3 RAR2-320L-165-4K7-3 (1) 20 0

0.5 0.0 N.A.

2 S1-3 Single 21714 21714 153.6 153.6 0.900 BEACON PRODUCTS RAR2-320L-165-4K7-3-X-AX-WHX

0
4 RAR2-320L-165-4K7-3 (1) 20 0 0
5 RAR2-320L-165-4K7-4W (1) 20 180 0
6 RAR2-320L-165-4K7-4W (1) 20 180 0
7 RGR4 11

N.A. READINGS @ GRADE
SITE_Planar Illuminance

0 0
8 RGR4 11 0 0
9 RGR4

Fc

11 0 0

2.11

10 RGR4

10.9 0.0 N.A. N.A. READINGS @ GRADE

2 S1-3BC Single

PARKING LOT Illuminance

11 0

Fc 3.45 6.9 0.5 13.80 6.90

12760 12760 145 145 0.900 BEACON PRODUCTS RAR-2-320L-165-4K7-3-AX-WHX-BC
2 S1-4 Single 21310 21310 153.6 153.6 0.900 BEACON PRODUCTS RAR2-320L-165-4K7-4W-X-AX-WHX

0

READINGS @ GRADE

Scale: 1 inch= 16 Ft.

HH

SIGN HEIGHT
12.4 = ABOVE GRADE

BRICK
 REFUSE
 AREA

LANDSCAPE
 AREA

 AREA
LANDSCAPE

 AREA
LANDSCAPE

S
O

U
T

H
     L

a
G

R
A

N
G

E
      R

O
A

D
       (U

S
    R

O
U

T
E

   4
5
)

N88°18'21"E(M) 199.92'(M)

S0
1

°4
5
'3

4
"E

(M
) 2

4
5
.0

0
'(R

=
M

)

S88°18'21"W(M) 200.03'(M)

N
0

1
°4

4
'0

3
"W

(M
) 2

4
5

.0
0

'(R
=

M
)

P
E
R

 D
O

C
. R

9
8
-0

8
1

1
0

3
LIC

 U
TILITY

 E
A

SE
M

E
N

T
B2
5

' P
U

P
E
R

 D
O

C
. R

9
8

- 0
8

1
1

0
3

1
0

' W
A

TE
R

M
A

IN
 E

A
S
E
M

E
N

T

P
E
R

 D
O

C
. R

9
8

- 0
8

1
1

0
3

1
0

' S
A

N
ITA

R
Y

 E
A

S
E
M

E
N

T

BLOT 1

OUTLOT 1D

Y
 C

A
SE

 N
O

.  9
0

E
D

1
0

9
1

4
BE
A

S
TE

R
LY

 R
IG

H
T O

F W
A

Y
 LIN

E
 U

S
 R

O
U

TE
 4

5

HH

UILDING WITH DRIVE THRUBPROPOSED 945 SF

BE-
5.0'

-P
L

B 2
0
.9

'

BP
L-

5
.0

'

60
°

60°

-EB
14.5'

0.5
.

0.5
.

0.5
.

0.6
.

.

.

.

0.6
.

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6
.

0.6
.

.5

.5

1

MH: 20
S1-3BC

MH: 20
S1-3BC

.5

2

.5

MH: 20

.5

S1-3

.5

3

.5

MH: 20

.5

S1-3

.5

4

.5

.5

5

.5

.5

MH: 20
S1-4

S1-4
MH: 20

.5

.5

6

.5

.5

MH: 11

7
C1

.5

8

MH: 11
C1

C1
9

.5

MH: 11
.5

MH: 11

10
C1

0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.7 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.1 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.4 2.3 3.1 3.2 2.5 2.4 2.7 3.1 2.5 1.7 0.7 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.0

0.1 0.3 0.8 1.3 1.7 2.4 3.6 4.4 5.5 5.6 5.8 6.5 6.2 5.4 3.8 1.5 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.1

0.1 0.5 1.8 2.5 2.4 2.3 2.6 3.1 3.7 4.2 4.9 6.1 6.7 6.6 5.1 2.0 0.7 0.3 0.2 0.1

0.2 1.0 3.4 4.0 3.2 1.9 1.2 0.9 1.1 1.7 2.5 3.8 5.2 6.3 5.2 1.8 0.7 0.4 0.2 0.2

0.3 1.4 5.2 5.7 3.9 2.2 0.8 0.4 0.5 0.8 1.6 2.8 4.1 5.3 4.2 1.8 0.8 0.4 0.4 0.2

0.5 1.6 4.8 6.3 4.5 2.5 0.9 0.3 0.6 1.3 2.5 3.8 5.1 3.8 2.1 1.0 0.4 0.2 0.1

0.7 1.5 4.2 6.2 4.4 2.3 0.8 0.3 0.6 1.4 2.5 3.8 5.1 3.7 2.1 1.0 0.5 0.2 0.1

0.6 1.5 4.2 6.2 4.4 2.4 0.8 0.3 0.7 1.4 2.7 4.0 5.2 4.2 1.6 0.7 0.4 0.3 0.2

0.6 1.6 4.7 6.7 4.8 2.7 0.9 0.4 0.7 1.5 2.8 4.2 5.3 4.5 1.5 0.4 0.2 0.2 0.2

0.5 1.7 6.0 6.9 4.9 2.7 1.0 0.4 0.7 1.4 2.2 3.0 3.3 2.9 1.1 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.1

0.4 1.7 5.7 6.7 4.9 2.6 0.5 0.8 1.1 1.5 1.7 1.8 1.5 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1

0.4 2.0 5.6 6.5 4.9 2.5 0.6 0.9 1.3 1.5 1.6 1.7 1.2 0.4 0.1 0.1 0.1

0.5 2.5 6.5 6.5 4.5 2.4 8.2 4.8 4.0 2.4 2.9 2.9 2.0 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.1

0.6 2.4 6.1 6.4 4.4 2.3 10.9 7.0 5.3 3.4 4.7 5.1 3.2 0.8 0.3 0.2 0.2

0.5 0.8 2.0 5.5 6.0 4.0 2.0 0.8 1.3 2.2 3.4 4.7 5.3 3.0 1.0 0.5 0.3 0.3

0.3 0.7 1.9 5.3 5.8 3.7 1.9 0.6 0.3 0.9 1.8 3.0 4.5 4.9 2.9 1.4 0.7 0.4 0.2

0.4 0.7 2.1 5.3 5.9 4.0 1.9 0.6 0.3 0.9 1.8 3.0 4.5 4.9 3.0 1.4 0.6 0.2 0.1

0.3 0.5 2.4 5.9 5.7 3.7 1.9 0.7 0.4 0.5 1.0 1.9 3.2 4.6 5.2 2.9 1.3 0.6 0.4 0.3

0.2 0.4 1.9 4.9 4.7 3.2 1.7 0.9 0.7 0.9 1.5 2.6 3.9 5.2 5.9 3.4 1.0 0.4 0.3 0.2

0.1 0.2 1.1 2.8 3.3 2.7 2.0 2.1 2.3 2.6 3.2 4.1 5.2 5.8 5.8 3.8 1.1 0.5 0.3 0.2

0.1 0.1 0.5 1.4 1.9 2.1 2.6 3.6 4.3 5.3 5.6 6.0 6.7 6.0 5.3 3.5 1.3 0.5 0.2 0.1

0.0 0.1 0.2 0.6 0.9 1.2 2.0 3.2 4.2 4.6 4.2 4.2 4.7 5.0 3.9 2.4 0.9 0.3 0.1 0.1

0.4 0.6 0.8 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.0 1.0 0.9 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.00.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.0

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.0

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.00.00.00.00.10.10.10.20.20.20.20.20.10.10.10.10.10.00.00.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.0

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0



DN

83 SF

COOLER

11

644 SF

SERVICE AREA

13

STORAGE 
SHELVING

ICE

S
T

O
R

A
G

E
 S

H
E

L
V

IN
G

IC
E

3

A100

W
A

L
K

U
P

 W
IN

D
O

W
 A

T
 P

A
T

IO

56 SF

TOILET

14

5
2

' -
 2

"

18' - 0"

12' - 0"

13' - 6"

3

A100

27' - 10"

1
6

' -
 9

"

17' - 10"

5
2

' -
 2

"

LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T/PARAPET
18' - 6"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

FULLY SCREENED RTU

Scale

COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

418 Clinton Pl., River Forest, IL 60305
KeystonePlanningDesign.com

As indicated

0
6
-1

2
-2

0
2
2
 1

7
:0

3
:4

9

A100

Floor + Roof Plan

D
R

IV
E

-T
H

R
U

 C
O

F
F

E
E

 D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T

F
ra

n
k
fo

rt
, 

IL
 6

0
4
2
3

0' 2' 4' 8' 16'

No
. Description Date

CONCEPT 2/14/2022

STAFF RVW
LETTER

6/14/2022

STAFF RESPONSE 8/30/2022

3/8" = 1'-0"
1

NEW COFFEE PROTOTYPE FLOOR PLAN

1/4" = 1'-0"
2

Roof Plan

1/4" = 1'-0"
3

RTU SCREENING



UP

LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T.O. WING WALL
15' - 8"

T.O. WALL
13' - 3 1/2"

GRADE
-0' - 6"

BASEMENT
-10' - 0"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

T/TOWER
21' - 0"

EP,
DATA,
PL

FP CL.?

LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T/PARAPET
18' - 6"

T.O. WING WALL
15' - 8"

T.O. WALL
13' - 3 1/2"

GRADE
-0' - 6"

BASEMENT
-10' - 0"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

T/TOWER
21' - 0"

3

A100

Scale

COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

418 Clinton Pl., River Forest, IL 60305
KeystonePlanningDesign.com

1/4" = 1'-0"

1
2
/2

/2
0
2
2

 6
:4

0
:1

8
 A

M

A101

Basement Plan +
Sections

D
R

IV
E

-T
H

R
U

 C
O

F
F

E
E

 D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T

F
ra

n
k
fo

rt
, 

IL
 6

0
4
2
3

No
. Description Date

STAFF RVW
LETTER

6/14/2022

STAFF RESPONSE 8/30/2022

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

Section 2

1/4" = 1'-0"
2

BASEMENT
1/4" = 1'-0"

3
SECTION5



LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T/PARAPET
18' - 6"

GRADE
-0' - 6"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

T/TOWER
21' - 0"

E-01
(BRICK)

E-01
(BRICK)

E-06
(STONE)

E-06
(STONE)

E-06
(STONE)

E-04C
(METAL)

E-05
(CANOPY)

E-05
(CANOPY)

E-05
(CANOPY)

E-07
(STRFRT)

E-07
(STRFRT)

E-07
(STRFRT)

LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T/PARAPET
18' - 6"

GRADE
-0' - 6"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

T/TOWER
21' - 0"

E-06
(STONE)

E-06
(STONE)

E-06
(STONE)

E-01
(BRICK)

E-01
(BRICK)

E-04C
(METAL)

E-08
(PAINT)

E-07
(STRFRT)

E-08
(PAINT)

LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T/PARAPET
18' - 6"

GRADE
-0' - 6"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

T/TOWER
21' - 0"

E-06
(STONE)

E-06
(STONE)

E-06
(STONE)

E-01
(BRICK)

E-08
(PAINT)

E-04C
(METAL)

E-05
(CANOPY)

E-08
(PAINT)

E-01
(BRICK)

LEVEL 1
0' - 0"

B.O. CANOPY
9' - 6"

T/PARAPET
18' - 6"

GRADE
-0' - 6"

T/MASONRY
12' - 0"

T/TOWER
21' - 0"

E-01
(BRICK)

E-01
(BRICK)

E-01
(BRICK)

E-08
(PAINT)

E-06
(STONE)E-06

(STONE)
E-06

(STONE)

E-04C
(METAL)

E-05
(CANOPY)

E-05
(CANOPY)

E-06
(RED)

E-04
(METAL)

E-07
(STRFRT)

E-06
(RED)

Scale

COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

418 Clinton Pl., River Forest, IL 60305
KeystonePlanningDesign.com

1/4" = 1'-0"

A300

Exterior Elevations

1/4" = 1'-0"1 EAST ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"
2 WEST ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"3 SOUTH ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"
4 NORTH ELEVATION

SPARKS EXTERIOR MATERIALS

TAG ELEMENT MNFR. MODEL # FINISH

E-01 (BRICK) 5/8" THIN BRICK MODULAR METRO-BRICK ARCH THIN BRICK 108 BROWNSTONE
E-01 (REFUSE) BRICK WITH 4" LIMESTONE CAP GLEN GERY TBD BROWN BROWN PER EMAGINE PUD
E-04 (METAL) CORRUGATED METAL SIDING BERRIDGE KYNAR 500 / HYLAR 5000 AGED BRONZE
E-04B (METAL) VERTICAL CORRUGATED METAL SIDING BERRIDGE KYNAR 500 / HYLAR 5000 AGED BRONZE
E-04C (METAL) STANDARD 4" COPING BERRIDGE KYNAR 500 / HYLAR 5000 AGED BRONZE
E-05 (CANOPY) WITH BUILDING TIEBACK RODS UNISTRUCTURES 9" C-CHANNEL AGED BRONZE
E-06 (RED) CORRUGATED METAL SIDING BERRIDGE KYNAR 500 / HYLAR 5000 DEEP RED
E-06 (STONE) FULL-BED STONE CULTURED STONE COUNTRYSTONE CHARDONNAY
E-07 (STRFRT) DOUBLE PANE, 1" IGU, ARGON, LOW-E,

TEMPERED
KAWNEER 2X4 MULLION DARK BRONZE

E-08 (PAINT) HOLLOW METAL EXTERIOR PAINT BENJAMIN MOORE EXTERIOR METAL PAINT TBD BROWN TO MATCH

No
. Description Date

CONCEPT 2/14/2022
STAFF RVW
LETTER

6/14/2022

STAFF RESPONSE 8/30/2022

cgruba
Received



Scale

COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

418 Clinton Pl., River Forest, IL 60305
KeystonePlanningDesign.com

8
/3

0
/2

0
2
2

 5
:5

6
:5

7
 A

M

A000B

RENDERINGS v2

D
R

IV
E

-T
H

R
U

 C
O

F
F

E
E

 D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T

F
ra

n
k
fo

rt
, 

IL
 6

0
4
2
3

No
. Description Date

STAFF RVW 5/28/2022

STAFF RVW
LETTER

6/14/2022

STAFF RESPONSE 8/30/2022



cgruba
Received



FULLY SCREENED REFUSE 
ENCLOSURE WITH GATES 
CONCRETE APRON 

SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

WATER MAIN EASEMENT

A3052

A305

3

A305 5

A305

4

1
6

' - 7
"4' - 8"13' - 11"

2' - 11" 10' - 8" 3' - 0"

5' - 0" 5' - 0"

0
' -

 8
"

5
' -

 0
"

0
' -

 4
"

M
A

X
IM

U
M

6
' -

 0
"

GATE STYLE AND COLOR TO MATCH ADJACENT 
BANK BUILDING REFUSE ENCLOSURE.  DARK 
BROWN FINISH ALUMINUM GATES

DARK BROWN BRICK 
TO BE USED TO 
MATCH THE BUILDING

6
' -

 0
"

13' - 8"

E-01
(REFUSE)

6
' -

 0
"

13' - 8"

6
' -

 0
"

16' - 8"

Scale

COPYRIGHT KEYSTONE PLANNING + DESIGN, LLC (KP+D)  2020

418 Clinton Pl., River Forest, IL 60305
KeystonePlanningDesign.com

As indicated

8
/3

0
/2

0
2
2

 5
:5

3
:5

3
 A

M

A305

SITE REFUSE
ENCLOSURE
ELEVATIONS

D
R

IV
E

-T
H

R
U

 C
O

F
F

E
E

 D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T

F
ra

n
k
fo

rt
, 

IL
 6

0
4
2
3

3/16" = 1'-0"
1

NEW COFFEE PROTOTYPE SITE PLAN

0' 2' 4' 8' 16'

No
. Description Date

ORIGINAL PLAN 10/22/2021

REVISED 11/10/2021

CONCEPT 2/14/2022

STAFF RVW 5/28/2022

STAFF RVW
LETTER

6/14/2022

STAFF RESPONSE 8/30/2022

EXAMPLE NEIGHBORING REFUSE ENCLOSURE

3/8" = 1'-0"
2

REFUSE EAST

3/8" = 1'-0"
3

REFUSE NORTH

3/8" = 1'-0"
4

REFUSE SOUTH

3/8" = 1'-0"
5

REFUSE WEST


	1.26.23
	1.26.23 Agenda Packet
	1.26.23
	PC Minutes 1.12.23
	Binder1-Sparks
	0. Staff Report 1.26.23
	1. GIS map 1-3000
	1. GIS map 1-1500
	2. Findings of Fact-PUD-Applicant
	2. Findings of Fact-Special Use Permit-Applicant
	3. PC Minutes 11.10.22 excerpt
	5. Light pole base detail 1.18.23
	5. Lighting fixtures 10.27.22
	5. Submittal 1.19.23 (frankenstein)
	Submittal 12.19.22-compressed
	Color renderings 1.19.23
	Elevations 1.19.23






